
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 Request for Proposals 2016-15 – Drainage Master Plan 
 

The City of Dawson Creek invites proposals from qualified professionals or firms to undertake a drainage 
master plan. This master plan will include an assessment of the current stormwater drainage system, 
identification of stormwater drainage deficiencies, recommendations for improvements required to 
satisfy current and future needs and to provide a proposed 10 year capital plan that addresses current 
and future drainage infrastructure needs. 

   
All contract documents are available through the City of Dawson Creek website at www.dawsoncreek.ca.  
The Proponent is solely responsible for ensuring any addenda are downloaded, reviewed, and included in 
their proposal. Questions regarding specifications can be directed to Devon Aaroe, Engineering Assistant, 
at 250.784.3621. 
 
Quotations will be accepted up to 2:00 p.m. (local time), May 16, 2016. Quotations must be sealed in an 
opaque envelope, clearly marked with the name and the project name/number and will be received by 
Brenda Ginter, Director of Corporate Administration, at: 
 
Regular Mail: 
Box 150, Dawson Creek, BC V1G 4G4 
 
Physical Address (Courier): 
10105 – 12A Street, Dawson Creek, BC V1G 3V7. 
 
It is the sole responsibility of the Proponent to ensure that its Proposal is received at the above location 
and by the time stipulated. Proposals received after the stipulated time will be rejected and returned to 
the Proponent unopened. Faxed Proposals are not acceptable and will be rejected. The City reserves the 
right to accept or reject all or any Proposals and to waive any informality, incompleteness or error in any 
Proposal. 
 
Proponents must refer to the RFP Documents for the terms governing the Proposal process. The City 
reserves the right to accept or reject all or any Proposals and to waive any informality, incompleteness 
or error in any Proposal. All costs incurred by proponents in the preparation and presentation of their 
Proposal will be at their own expense. 

  

http://www.dawsoncreek.ca/
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1. GENERAL 
1.1. Introduction 

The City of Dawson Creek invites proposals from qualified professionals or firms to undertake a 
drainage master plan. This master plan will include an assessment of the current stormwater 
drainage system, identification of storm drainage and retention deficiencies, recommendations for 
improvements required to satisfy current and future needs and to provide a capital plan to address 
improvements required for existing and future needs.  
 

1.2 Objective/Purpose 
To provide a Drainage Master Plan (DMP) for the City of Dawson Creek’s stormwater runoff 
collection, retention and conveyance system that takes into account policy direction from the Official 
Community Plan Bylaw No. 4042, specifically Chapter 8.0 – Green and Integrated Infrastructure and 
Appendix 2. This plan is to provide a map to identify areas of hydraulic and structural deficiencies, 
upgrading options and a prioritized phased improvement program over a 10 year term with capital 
cost estimates. In addition, this plan must include computer modelling of the system to determine 
system capacity upgrade needs including future growth. 
 

1.3 General Terms and Conditions 
Accompanying this RFP is Appendix ‘A’, which contains the scope of work.  Each prospective 
consultant is expected to review all conditions in Appendix ‘A’ and acknowledge their acceptance of 
Appendix ‘A’ in the Proposal Cover Letter, or list their objections and requested revisions in the 
contract requirements for the City’s consideration. 
 
1.4 Timing 

The desired date for commencement of the projects is no later than May 31, 2016. The project is to 
be completed by June 30, 2017. 
 

1.5  Budget 
The budget for this project is $150,000. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
2.1 History 
For further information please visit our website www.dawsoncreek.ca. 

 
The City of Dawson Creek is an older community that has seen the development of new residential 
subdivisions and commercial development over the past 5 years.  Over the past several years, the 
City’s population has grown by approximately 2,000 people.  One of the main drivers fueling 
residential, commercial and industrial growth in and around the City is the oil & gas industry. 

 
The surface runoff drainage system is comprised of approximately 65km of pipe, 660 manholes, 
1076 catchbasins, 59km of ditching and 19 outfalls which flow into the Dawson Creek. All of the 
City’s surface runoff eventually drains into the Dawson Creek by way of this collection and 
conveyance system. It should be noted that in most of the older developed areas (pre-2011), the 
weeping tiles and roof drains are tied into the sanitary system. Stormwater retention areas have 
been developed for large stormwater events in a few locations. Appendix ‘B’ indicates the 1971 
floodplain of the Dawson Creek as shown in the Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 4042 for the 

http://www.dawsoncreek.ca/
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proponent’s information. 
 
There is no pre-existing Drainage Master Plan. The City will provide a database and shape files that 
list information pertinent to the collection system. Any previous reports will be made available to 
the successful proponent for review to assist with the master plan. 
 

3. REQUIRED FORMAT FOR PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL 
3.1 Cover Letter 
Provide an executive summary emphasizing the strengths, qualifications and experience of the 
project team, and information regarding the methods, procedures, quality control, safety, and 
reporting structure proposed to explain how your firm will develop the Drainage Master Plan. The 
cover letter must be signed by a person with official authority to bind the company.  The letter must 
include the name, address, telephone number, title and signature of the firm’s contact person for 
this proposal, and state the submittal is valid for 90 days. 

 
3.2 Table of Contents 
Include a list of all sections and appendices in the proposal response and indicate corresponding 
page numbers. 

 
3.3 Approach and Scope of Work 
Provide your approach and a detailed scope of work demonstrating that your firm can complete the 
Drainage Master Plan, including all items as specified in Appendix ‘A’. 

 
3.4 Insurance/Business License 
The selected Consultant must maintain in force at all times during the performance of this contract 
the following insurance policies: 

o Comprehensive General Liability, including contractual liability, products and completed 
operations and business automobile liability, all of which will include coverage for both 
bodily and property damage with a combined single limit of $5,000,000.  The City must be 
named as “additional insured” on all policies required to be furnished.  

o Professional liability coverage with limits not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence. 
o Workers’ Compensation coverage. 
o The consultant must assume liability for the wrongful or negligent acts, errors and 

omissions of its officers, agents and employees and subcontractors, and have adequate 
insurance to cover such negligent acts, errors or omissions with limits of $2,000,000. 

 
Proof of the insurances listed above must be submitted with the proposal.  
The firm must purchase a City of Dawson Creek business license prior to beginning the project. 
 
3.5 Project Team/Key Personnel and Resumes 
Provide an organization chart showing the names and responsibilities of key personnel.   

Identify and provide resumes for the following key persons: 

o Contract Principal-in-Charge (a principal of the firm who will have the ultimate authority 
and responsibility to bind the Consultant, sign agreements, assign required personnel and 
resources to the City, and ensure that the services are provided in a cost and time 
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efficient manner. 
o Senior Staff Member (primary contact) 

It is imperative that the key personnel preparing the Drainage Master Plan have the background, 
experience and qualifications to complete the project.  After the contract is signed, the consultant 
may not replace key staff unless their employment is terminated or agreed upon by the City.  The 
City must approve replacement staff before a substitute person is assigned to the project.  The City 
reserves the rights to request that the consultant replace a staff person assigned to the contract 
should the City consider such a replacement to be in the best interest of the City. 

 
3.6 Firm Qualifications/References 
Provide your firm’s service capabilities, qualifications and experience and three (3) public agency 
references for similar assignments. 

 
3.7 Work Schedule 
Provide a project work schedule demonstrating completion of key milestones and overall project 
completion by no later than June 30, 2017. 

 
3.8 Fee Schedule 
Provide a proposed fee schedule including a detailed breakdown of each element or phase of the 
project and an estimated number of hours required for completion of the project and an hourly rate 
for each type of service provided. 
   
A total estimated project fee is to be included. Proponent must state pricing to include all expenses 
and disbursements.   

 
Proponent must also include a price per hour /day for any extra work over and above that is 
negotiated in the contract. 
 
All of this information must be provided for the lead consultant and any sub-consultants.  The fees 
should also detail all individual team members, their hourly billable rate, and the hours allocated for 
the project. 

 
4. RFP CONDITIONS 
4.1 Consultant Selection Methodology 
The City will select the most qualified consultant for the negotiation.  Negotiations regarding a fair 
and reasonable price will occur subsequent to consultant selection.  Should the City be unable to 
obtain a fair and reasonable price through negotiations with the selected consultant, the City will 
enter into negotiation with the next higher qualified proponent and may award the contract if the 
parties are able to arrive at a fair and reasonable price.  If that is unattainable, the City may enter 
into negotiations with the next highest qualified proponent in sequence until an agreement is 
reached. 

 
The submittals will be evaluated based upon several factors.  Evaluation criteria used to evaluate 
proposals fall into the following categories:  

o Methodology / concept innovation / functionality 
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o Delivery plan / schedule 
o Project management / organization plan 
o Availability 
o Price 

Attached is Appendix C – Sample Evaluation Form. 
 

4.2 Acceptance of Proposals 
The highest rated, lowest priced, or any proposal will not necessarily be accepted. The City reserves 
the right to reject any or all proposals, to waive informality or irregularity in any Proposal received, 
and to be the sole judge of merits of the Proposals received. 
 

4.3 Proposal Revisions 
Proposal revisions must be received prior to the RFP submission / closing date and time. 

 

4.4 Pre-Contractual Expenses  
The City will not be liable for any pre-contractual expenses incurred by any proponent or by a 
selected consultant.  Each proponent must protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City 
from any and all liability, claims, or expenses whosoever incurred by, or on behalf of, the entity 
participating in the preparation of its response to this Request for Proposal.  Pre-contractual 
expenses are defined as expenses incurred by proponents and the selected consultant, if any, in: 

o Preparing and submitting information in response to the Request for Proposal 
o Negotiations with the City on any matter related to this procurement 
o Costs associated with interviews, meetings, travel or presentations 
o All other expenses incurred by a proponent/consultant prior to the date of award and a formal 

notice to proceed 

The City reserves the right to amend, withdraw and cancel this request. The City reserves the right 
to reject all responses to this request at any time prior to contract execution.  The City reserves the 
right to request or obtain additional information about any and all proposals. 

 

4.5 Disclosure 
All proponents are aware that their Proposals are deemed public records and may be subject to 
disclosure upon request. 

 

4.6 Additional Information 
Any additional information made available to proponents prior to the RFP submission / closing date 
and time by the Owner or representative of the Owner, such as mapping or GIS data sets, which is 
not expressly included in Appendices ‘A’ thru ‘D’, is not included in the Request for Proposals. Such 
additional information is made available only for the assistance of proponents who must make their 
own judgment about its reliability, accuracy, completeness and relevance to the RFP, and neither 
the Owner nor any representative of the Owner gives any guarantee or representation that the 
additional information is reliable, accurate, complete or relevant. 
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APPENDIX ‘A’ - SCOPE OF WORK 
 

The Consultant will provide the following consulting services and deliverables: 
 
1. Develop a Drainage Master Plan (DMP) for the City of Dawson Creek’s stormwater runoff 

collection and conveyance system. This plan is to provide a map to identify areas of hydraulic 
and structural deficiencies, upgrading options and a prioritized phased improvement program 
over a 10 year term with capital cost estimates 

2. Develop a program in ArcMap that hyperlinks future as-built drawings and the video records 
corresponding to the existing pipes. 

3. Conduct manhole and catchbasin inspections, produce reports on these inspections and 
develop a manhole/catchbasin inspection program for the trunk main areas only.  

4. Conduct a flow monitoring program to obtain current flows data for the trunk main areas only. 

5. Provide a per metre unit cost to flush and video inspect storm mains. Priority and quantity of 
mains to be completed shall be determined by the City. 

6. Conduct GPS survey of the City’s entire stormwater runoff collection system, including 
manhole rim elevations and inverts, to an accuracy of +/- 25mm. Create a map of the 
collection system with the data collected from the GPS and identify manhole and catchbasin 
details. 

7. Asses the existing retention areas within the City 

8. Compare GPS data with existing as-built drawings and identify corrections. 

9. Develop a drainage model for analysis of system capacity needs for existing and future 
development and expansion for the next 10 years. This model must be validated to reflect 
existing conditions. Software to be approved by the City. 

10. Assess the capacity of the existing system based on a 100-Year storm event. (Appendix D  - IDF 
Curve) 

11. Assess the condition of the existing infrastructure and provide a plan for a continued CCTV 
condition assessment program. 

12. Develop a 10 Year Capital Plan for the City using a phased approach for short, medium and 
long term projects that are considerate of the City’s annual budget for drainage works; 

13. Provide recommendations for maintenance and safety procedures. 

14. Prepare a draft of the plan and submit three (3) copies to the City for review and comments, 
no later than May 31, 2017. 

15. Present the plan to Council for adoption with Power Point presentation summarizing the 
findings and recommendations of the plan one month prior to the completion date of June 30, 
2017. 

16. Submit five (5) colour, bound copies of the final Drainage Master Plan to the City by June 30, 
2017. 
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APPENDIX ‘B’ - FLOODPLAIN MAP 
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APPENDIX ‘C’ - SAMPLE EVALUATION FORM 
 

Vendor: 

Evaluator 

Date: 
 

CRITERIA  Possible 
Points  

Total 
Points 
Given  

0-1 Minimally addressed requirements/2-4 Meets requirements/5-6 Exceeds 
requirements  

  

VENDOR CAPABILITIES: (30% of total points)  0-6 pts.   

• Experience with commercial corporations or government clients:  
Does the proponent demonstrate experience with clients similar to the 
size and scope required in the RFP? 
How clearly does the proponent detail this information? 

6  

• To what extent do the references reflect ability?  
Did the proponent provide sufficient detail to determine ability? 
Reference checks?  

6  

• Years of experience (Minimum 3-consecutive years):  
Experience relates to the amount of time in providing the RFP service 
requirements, not necessarily the time the business has been in 
operation.  

6  

• Project personnel qualifications:  
Are key personnel roles, responsibilities and resumes identified and 
provided? 
Did they clearly identify personnel? 
Does the organization chart support the level of service required? 
Does the proponent clearly explain any subcontractor roles, responsibility 
and qualifications? 

6  

• Professional memberships and certification:  
Does the proponent provide information on current professional 
memberships and certifications? 

6  

Total Vendor Capability Points (A)  30  
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CRITERIA  Possible 
Points  

Total 
Points 
Given  

0-1 Minimally addressed requirements/2-4 Meets requirements/5-6 Exceeds 
requirements  

  

WORK PLAN: (30% of Total Points)  0-6   

• Completeness of descriptive narrative work plan:  
Did the narrative sufficiently explain how work will be performed, identifies 
staff, time lines, equipment, supplies, subcontract supervision, strategies, 
reporting, overall quality of the work plan? Was the plan well organized and 
presented in a clear, concise and logical manner? 

6  

• Acceptability of proposed plan:  
Did the proponent provide sufficient detail and insight to the responsibilities? 
Is work plan clearly and explicitly defined? Was the plan well organized and 
presented in a clear concise and logical manner? 

6  

• Does the work plan explicitly explain how services are to be provided? To 
what extent? 
Did the work plan explain in detail how each aspect of the contract services 
would be provided? 

6  

• Extent of quality control, emergency procedures and thoroughness:  
Did the proponent reflect quality standards to be utilized and describe policies 
or procedures for implementation? 
Did the proponent clearly outline and discuss their emergency contingency 
plans? 

6  

• Management information reports, capabilities and examples:  
Did the vendor clearly and concisely explain their report capabilities for 
management reports and provide examples? 

6  

Total Work Plan Points (B) 30  

Cost (40% of total points)    

(Low bid/this bid) x total maximum points for cost = points (C)  40  

GRAND TOTAL WORKSHEET POINTS (A+B+C) = D (D)   100  
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APPENDIX ‘D’ - IDF CURVE 
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